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INTRODUCTION


Bullecourt is a tiny, sleepy village in Le Nord, the northernmost region of France, not far from the border with Belgium. Indeed, the village is so small that, even now, it is mentioned in very few travel guides. In 1914 it was a picturesque hamlet with a population of just 396, located in a river valley among the great coal fields of France. As was the custom in that part of the country, almost all the small but well-kept houses had red roofs while the Grande Rue, which ran through the centre of the village, soon gave way to winding and circuitous lane ways. These wound into rolling green farmland with large trees at the base of small hills which, in turn, gave way to extended horizons and vast skies.


But by early 1917 all this had changed — World War I had seen to that. Although not completely levelled, as were Thiepval, Combles and other villages of the Somme Valley after the great battles of 1916, Bullecourt bore little resemblance to the pretty little hamlet of just a few years earlier. Most — if not all — the inhabitants had left. Then came April and May 1917 and the two tragic battles that practically flattened the entire village.


Australian soldiers were involved in both battles. Oddly enough, little has been written on their contribution to the final outcome. And, perhaps even more peculiarly considering the myth that has evolved around the Australian soldier in World War I, both battles figure little in the national consciousness. Only one account told from the Australian perspective comes to mind, first published as long ago as 1933. Charles Bean has written five lengthy chapters (245 pages of text or approximately 55,000 words) on both battles in Volume IV of the Official History of Australia in the War of 1914–1918 which have been critically mauled by the Australian historian Professor Eric Andrews.1





Despite the presence of some simple factual errors — including that the second battle ‘dragged on till 10 May’ when it actually concluded on 17 May — some of Andrews’ criticism is indeed warranted. Bean certainly failed to address the less than adequate staff work by senior Australian officers, particularly the commander of I ANZAC Corps, Lieutenant General Sir William Birdwood, and I ANZAC’s Chief of Staff, Major General Cyril Brudenell White — a man with whom Bean had developed a great friendship and who, according to Andrews (who argues somewhat convincingly) Bean ‘worshipped’. Other parts of Andrews’ critique are less persuasive, including such details as the distance the 5th Australian Infantry Brigade had to cover in the advance of 3 May.


***


The two battles of Bullecourt occupy a unique place in Australian military history. The first, fought over a time span of not much more than nine hours, marked the first occasion on which Australian troops had fought alongside that new cumbersome advance in technological warfare, the tank. The performance of the tanks was to eventually turn the battle into something akin to a Greek tragedy. However, despite massive casualties and the loss of over 1200 men captured, two brigades of infantry from the 4th Australian Division came close to achieving the impossible. They not only captured parts of the extremely well protected Hindenburg Line without artillery or tank support, but held their ground against numerous German counterattacks until finally weight of numbers told and they were forced back to their jumping-off point. The 4th Division was so severely mauled in the attack that it took many months to restore its units to anywhere near full strength.


In the second attack — on this occasion assisted by the more common preliminary artillery barrages — which continued for almost two weeks, three of the other four Australian divisions (Major General John Monash’s 3rd Australian Division only missed out because the men were still in training) were forced into the meat grinder that was Bullecourt. Casualties amounted to another 7482 men. Yet again Australian officers and their men overcame enormous odds and not only succeeded in capturing parts of the German OG1 and OG2 trenches but held them — assisted at times by the British — against countless large (or ‘general’) and smaller counter-attacks.


Bullecourt became a charnel house for Australian soldiers. Many who had been through the relentless and severe enemy artillery bombardments the previous year at Pozieres considered Bullecourt far worse. Second Bullecourt was certainly little more than slaughter. And for what? While Field Marshal Sir Douglas Haig considered the capture of Bullecourt ‘among the great achievements of the war’, almost 14,000 Australian and British soldiers were killed or wounded for a village which, even at the time of the second attack, held no strategic or tactical value whatsoever.


***


Apart from the account by Charles Bean, very little has been written on the two battles, at least from the Australian point of view. Some of the battalion histories which remain available (many more are out of print) provide a reasonable to good account of Bullecourt. Craig Deayton, for instance, has used more recent scholarship to research and write a history of the 47th Battalion, Battle Scarred, which provides a better than average account of the first battle — at least from the perspective of that battalion. Other battalion histories barely mention the battles or, if they do, only in an exiguous and less than useful fashion. There are also a few brief articles, including Eric Andrews and Bede Jordan’s ‘Second Bullecourt Revisited’, written in 1989, and Peter Burness’ ‘The Battles for Bullecourt’ (Wartime, Issue 18) as well as chapters in general books on the First World War. Certainly one of the better examples is the relevant part of Peter Pedersen’s lengthy tome The ANZACS.





Accounts of the battles from the British perspective are more inclusive. Apart from the usual chapters in general histories and General Sir Hubert Gough’s account in his autobiography, as well as the numerous biographies of Gough, two recent additions stand out. Jonathon Walker’s The Blood Tub, first published in 1998, critically examines both battles. Chiefly focusing on the British contribution, Walker’s book leans more towards an analysis of Gough’s style of command and scrutinises his role, particularly his planning and conduct of the battles. By contrast, Paul Kendall is essentially concerned with the part of the ‘ordinary soldiers’, specifically ‘the poor bloody infantry’, in Bullecourt 1917, which was first published in 2010. Neither British author has overlooked the significant involvement of the Australians.


In A Greater Sum of Sorrow, I have endeavoured to provide a fresh account of the contribution of those Australian soldiers in these two battles. The book will explore how the AIF came to fight at Bullecourt, and how British and Australian officers planned and executed these battles. It aims to place the Australians’ experience at Bullecourt more firmly in the context of recent research, including changes to British and German military doctrine, as well as shedding fresh light on several controversies surrounding the battle such as the employment of tanks in the first attack, and the contentious issue of poor Australian staff work in the second battle, particularly in failing to target German machine-gun positions around Queant. And, while Australian battalion war diaries are usually rather vague and add little useful information, they describe quite clearly the panic and ineffective leadership of a few junior field officers at platoon and even company level, particularly when confronted by the murderous machine-gun fire.


The book is based for the most part on recent scholarship and unpublished archival material, specifically that of the Australian War Memorial in Canberra. Other archives that feature prominently are those of the Imperial War Museum, Liddell Hart Centre for Military Archives, Kings College and the National Archives, all located in London. Main sources include unit war diaries, operation orders and draft plans, all of which contribute operational and tactical details of the attacks. The personal papers of senior officers (those responsible for planning the battles), more junior field officers (those leading the attacks) and ‘ordinary soldiers’ have been used freely throughout the book. Indeed, I have included many lengthy quotes in an endeavour to provide a ‘feel’ for the conditions before, during and after the battles. I have also frequently consulted personal diaries, letters and interviews with some 40 men who took part in the first battle, all from the Chalk Collection at the University of Tasmania.


Occasionally in the course of my research I uncovered some information that I decided not to include, either because it appeared too anecdotal, because there were finer points that had been missed and I was unable to complete the pieces of the puzzle or, indeed, because I found the soldier’s account problematic. Sometimes, too, there were several contradictory versions of the same incident. I have attempted to use only those narratives which are supported by those of other soldiers or which accord with what is included in war diaries or operational orders, although they too are at times contradictory and conflicting.


***


Charles Bean’s observation that ‘Bullecourt, more than any other battle, shook the confidence of Australian soldiers in the capacity of the British command’ certainly rings true. Bean also wrote that Australian troops braved the odds in numerous battles, but that ‘Bullecourt was the most brilliant of these achievements, impressing enemy and friends alike; it was in some ways, the stoutest achievement of the Australian soldier in France, carried through against the stubbornest enemy that ever faced him there.’2 We need to remember, however, that the two battles took the lives of many thousands of decent, courageous soldiers — Australian, British and German alike. A large number of those men, including 2249 Australians, have no known grave. They are listed simply as missing in action. This book is, in some small way, an acknowledgement of the achievements of all those soldiers — men who made the supreme sacrifice.






CHAPTER 1


‘A great deal of work to do.’


THE WESTERN FRONT, 1917


By the beginning of 1917 Lieutenant General Sir William Birdwood, the British officer who commanded I ANZAC Corps, was growing increasingly uncomfortable with the role his Australians were expected to play in battles on the Western Front. In addition to the large numbers of Australian casualties incurred in seemingly fruitless and poorly planned battles such as Fromelles and Pozieres, there was also the more intangible problem of command structure to consider.1


At Gallipoli, Birdwood had exercised a somewhat independent command, usually with little interference from General Sir Ian Hamilton, the commander of the Mediterranean Expeditionary Force. Hamilton, unwisely as it transpired, had directed the expedition from his headquarters aboard the battleship HMS Queen Elizabeth, where his primary concern lay with the progress of the main landing party of British troops further south at Cape Helles.


Arriving in France Birdwood discovered that his corps was just one of 18, comprising 44 infantry and five cavalry divisions, dispersed throughout five British armies. Despite this, the benefits quickly became evident. Australian officers and soldiers soon learnt the art of so-called technological warfare from their British counterparts — as well as all its horrors. At schools established by the British, the Australians were instructed in the finer points of advancing across no man’s land, supposedly under the protection of their own artillery barrage. There were also lessons in the proper use of machine-guns and trench mortars; how to respond to a gas attack; the pitfalls of failing to throw ‘bombs’ (hand grenades) correctly; methods to avoid detection by snipers and, for competent marksmen, the opportunity to learn the most efficient way to kill exposed enemy troops.


The disadvantages of the AIF’s command structure were also clear to Birdwood and to most other senior Australian officers. I ANZAC Corps generally comprised troops whose primary purpose was to fight the enemy while others belonged to ‘combat support units’. But, as Jeffrey Grey points out, ‘for logistic and much higher administrative support the Australians, like the Canadians, relied upon the British.’ Probably more significantly, Australian soldiers were combined with ‘British formations, and in keeping with British doctrine, the ANZAC Corps were also supplied with tanks and heavy artillery from British resources, and British staff officers filled some of the technical and specialist posts on their headquarters which the Australians lacked the resources to supply themselves.’2 At first the arrangement worked well. But — particularly following the increased casualties in subsequent fighting around the Somme — some Australian junior officers and their men began to lose confidence in British staff officers and to question the wisdom of having the British plan their battles. It was also not lost on Australian survivors of the Gallipoli campaign that they were now pitted against a more competent and lethal enemy. Good soldier the Turk may have been, but he did not have the training, skills and weaponry of his German counterpart.


By January 1917 all five Australian divisions were on the Western Front. The most recent addition, Major General (later General Sir) John Monash’s 3rd, had only moved into the line in November 1916 and, while probably the most comprehensively trained, was not as battle hardened as the others. Yet even the most battle-hardened men suffered in the bitter European winter — the worst for almost 40 years — with freezing rain and relentless snow which turned the terrain to an endless quagmire of sticky mud. Even in the early weeks of winter large numbers of frostbite and trench-foot cases were reported, with each Australian division losing around 200 men a week with trench foot. Birdwood intervened, reminding all junior officers that their ‘thoughts and efforts should always be to look after [their] men first.’ While some platoon and company commanders may have been offended at what appeared to be needless ‘mothering’, most nonetheless ‘began checking that their men regularly aired their feet and rubbed them with whale oil, that they wore dry socks, that their boots were unlaced at the top, that they discarded puttees, that they loosely wrapped sandbags around their ankles.’3
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The Western Front 1914—1918 with details of trench lines. Note the position of Bullecourt and the small area of north-eastern France — approximately 75 by 45 miles — which was under the control of the BEF.


As a consequence, cases of trench foot diminished. However many troops froze to death and there were others who simply could not cope with the extreme cold. And, if early January was bad, worse was to come. In late January, according to one Australian soldier, ‘it froze hard ... Even by day, the bitter winds cut through greatcoats and sheepskins ... One awoke at evening to another night of Herculean labours, of peril and misery, as the silent quest rose to a silent heaven, “How long, O Lord?” from thousands of souls which had lost faith for a little in both their God and their country, from neither of which came aid.’4


Largely through the efforts of I ANZAC Corps’ Chief of Staff, Major General Cyril Brudenell White, Australian soldiers at the front gradually received some assistance in coping with the bitter weather. Roads were repaired and duckboard tracks laid near the line to enable iron and timber, used in dugouts and revetting, to be transported to the front. Warm woollen clothing and waterproof coats became more freely available. Almost 65,000 sheepskin jackets were hastily despatched from Australia. The length of time battalions were forced to spend in the line was reduced. All Australian units occupying a front-line position were rotated every six days or so, which meant ‘at the worst a single man seldom does more than forty-eight hours continuous front trench duty in every twelve days.’5


Hot food and canteen consumables were also on hand when in the line. Behind the front, men returned to warmish Nissen hutments while sporting and recreational facilities had not been forgotten. Subsequent frosts caused the sticky mud to harden, giving the troops more cause for joy. However most Australians found the absence of what they regarded as ‘proper’ light difficult. ‘We all wish we could see the sun,’ noted a sergeant from the 27th Battalion in February 1917, adding ruefully, ‘that we have not seen since October last.’6 As if the freezing conditions were not sufficient, squads of Australian soldiers were expected to participate in the much-despised trench raids which brought further casualties for little or no gain. Little wonder that, for many Australians, the winter of 1917 ‘was the hardest of the war ... Several shot themselves, more malingered, and one or two deserted to the enemy, an offence usually unheard of in the AIF.’7


Through it all, Monash remained undaunted, emphasising that raids increased ‘morale’ and acted as a ‘powerful stimulant for all ranks’. He also observed that his divisional sector covered only five of the more than 90 miles of British front-line trenches, and was ...


... held defensively by only one platoon of each of four companies, of each of four battalions, while all the other nine battalions, all the artillery and engineers [remained out of the line] ... The front line is not really a line at all, but a very complex and elaborate system of field works, extending back several thousand yards, and bristling with fire trenches, support and communication trenches, redoubts, strong points, machinegun emplacements, and an elaborate system of dugouts, cabins, posts, and observation cells.’ 


This meant very little to Australian soldiers who, even in late February, were still suffering from the extreme weather conditions. Most undoubtedly would have agreed with Monash’s sentiments that ‘life in the front [line] ... is very arduous and uncomfortable.’8


Alongside this was the constant danger of being killed by a German sniper and some of the inexperienced newcomers were soon found dead. ‘It was not wise to put his head over the parapet in daylight,’ wrote one veteran. ‘Fritz’s snipers are pretty keen, and anyhow it gives the position of the post away.’9


In March 1917 however, the drab life of the trenches was to come to an end. Earlier, before the snow had begun to thaw, the German High Command had developed an innovative new strategy which would indirectly bring Australian troops into another great battle close to an obscure French village. What then had brought the Australians to this part of France, and why were so many to fight and die around Bullecourt?


***
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Field Marshal Sir Douglas Haig, Commander-in-Chief of British and Commonwealth Forces on the Western Front from late 1915 to 1919 (AWM A03713).


Despite over 30 months of fighting in France and Flanders, the Western Front had changed very little since December 1914. Stretching from the English Channel coast to the border with Switzerland, the terrain had borne witness to some fearful and costly battles, particularly in 1916. The first day of the Somme campaign (Saturday 1 July), for example, has been universally labelled the greatest calamity in the British army’s noble history. At 7.30 am approximately 100,000 troops attempted the dash across no man’s land. By the end of the day, of the 57,470 casualties, 19,240 men had been killed, all for the gain of a little over one mile. Australian troops were soon ordered into the battle. All the while conditions on the Somme battlefields continued to worsen. Heavy rain and almost non-stop artillery fire had turned the ground to a virtual swamp. By mid-October the British front line had advanced very little. With the onset of winter and the mounting toll of casualties all but destroying his ‘New Armies’, General (later Field Marshal) Sir Douglas Haig finally recognised the folly of continuing the attack, and ordered its cessation.10


***


The coming of New Year 1917 saw the strategic situation in France and Flanders alter dramatically. While the Somme battles may have marked the beginning of the end for the British ‘New Armies’, the Germans had fared little better. Poor tactics, including unnecessary counter-attacks, had also drained their divisions of men and equipment; given that the Germans were fighting on two fronts, these were resources that they could ill afford to lose. By early 1917 however, the Russian armies on the Eastern Front were close to defeat and revolution erupted in Petrograd (St Petersburg) which soon spread to Moscow. With little resistance from the once powerful Russian army, more German divisions could be redeployed to the Western Front.


Prior to this redeployment, the German High Command has already recognised that the Allies would, in all likelihood, launch another major attack in the spring to take advantage of the German shortfall in men, and that they would probably break through. To best utilise those troops and weapons that remained, the High Command ordered a general withdrawal to a shorter front which could be better defended, sited well behind the former German line. At first the withdrawal was gradual. Step by cautious step, enemy soldiers pulled back to previously constructed temporary defensive positions, all the while covered by a rearguard of elite infantry units.11 German strategy on the Western Front for the coming year was all but dictated by the construction of those stronger positions behind the old front line.


The British named the new defences the ‘Hindenburg Line’, a collective name for the various stellungs already divided into codenames by the Germans. The strongest and most elaborate was the Siegfriedstellung which ran south from Arras to St Quentin then down to Laon and the Aisne. Straightening this bulge (or salient) released more German troops to defend a shortened line around the Somme. In some places along the Hindenburg Line the withdrawal saw the Germans surrender as much as 45 miles of territory. More significantly however, the shorter front released the equivalent of 13 infantry divisions.


At the same time the Germans were implementing a new defensive doctrine of flexible (or ‘elastic’) defence in depth. The Hindenburg Line provided a region of defensive zones rather than the former single continuous line of well-defended strongpoints. A network of two or three deep trenches, usually following the lie of the land, was protected by mile after mile of up to nine deep belts of barbed wire, in most places many feet thick. Every part of the line had a forward ‘outpost zone’ covering around 2700 yards which comprised the first and second principal trenches (or strongpoint line) while an expertly sited system of machine-gun emplacements (sometimes thick concrete pillboxes), located in the best tactical positions, provided an overlapping arc of ceaseless fire criss-crossing no man’s land. Attacking infantry stood little chance of surviving this maelstrom.


German artillery pits were well camouflaged and sited to provide the highest possible firepower for mobile guns and anti-tank weapons. Strengthened underground bunkers ensured enemy troops were relatively comfortable in even the worst weather conditions while keeping them safe from all but the heaviest artillery bombardments. A labyrinth of communication (‘switch’) trenches connected the rear and forward trenches. If attacking troops managed to break through, reinforcements could move forward quickly, thereby catching hapless survivors in something akin to a salient. Further behind the forward trenches were more dugouts and concrete bunkers for headquarters staffs, medical officers and, most importantly, the counter-attack infantry units or eingreif. Described as ‘an iron wall that no human power can overcome’, the German High Command not surprisingly was convinced that the Hindenburg Line was all but impregnable.12


***


However late 1916 also heralded the development of a more dangerous long-term strategy for Germany. On 22 December the Chief of the Admiralty Staff, Admiral Henning von Holtzrendorff, prophesised to the German Chancellor (Theobald von Bethmann-Hollweg) that the ‘war demands a decision by autumn 1917 if it is not to end with a general exhaustion of all parties and thus disastrously for us.’13 Senior German officers and politicians were aware that Germany had little chance of winning a war that continued beyond 1917. The answer, Holtzrendorff was informed by his civilian advisers, lay in unrestricted submarine warfare. If German ‘U-boats’ operating out of Belgian ports were to sink up to 600,000 tons of Allied merchant shipping each month for six months, Britain would be deprived of some 39% of her necessary imports. However risks were plentiful. The most likely scenario was the United States of America entering the war on the side of the Allies.


For the moment this did not overly concern the Germans who were convinced that, without necessary food and equipment, the Allies would be suing for peace within six months. Moreover, there was no possibility that American troops could be mobilised within such a short time frame. Admiral Eduard von Capelle, the Secretary of State for the Imperial Navy, went so far as to claim that the United States posed ‘zero’ threat. This optimistic assertion was supported by German general Paul von Hindenburg who informed the Reichstag that American military assistance would be ‘minimal, in any way not decisive’.14


Bethmann-Hollweg was less certain. Aware that this could well be Germany’s last chance to secure victory or a negotiated peace with favourable conditions, he remained apprehensive over the rash predictions of those few senior officers. Before committing his government, the Chancellor decided to throw one last olive branch to Petrograd, Paris and London. Only once the offer was rejected by all three Allied governments (it was regarded as too demanding) did Bethmann-Hollweg accept the strategy. He could now claim some moral ground, protesting that Germany had been compelled to escalate to unrestricted U-boat warfare. On 1 February 1917 attacks on merchant shipping in the North Atlantic commenced.15


***


On 4 February, with its strategy of unrestricted attacks at sea in place, the German High Command issued orders to commanders in the field to consolidate and hold their positions behind the Hindenburg Line. The British garnered some information from German prisoners of war which, along with aerial reconnaissance reports, revealed the boldness of the enemy’s flight. However it took Anglo-French intelligence experts over a week to recognise the significance of the movement and by then it was far too late to retaliate. Smaller groups of German soldiers began pulling back from early to mid-February, with the main withdrawal (Operation Alberich) completed in four days from 16 to 20 March 1917.16


While information may have been passed to army commanders, by mid-February the Australians apparently remained unaware of any significant enemy activity. One divisional diarist noted that, as late as 22 February, Australian troops began to suspect ‘that momentous developments were afoot on the other side of No Man’s Land.’ Regardless of expectations, the front appeared normal as German ‘machine-guns swept our forward zones with intermittent bursts of fire.’ Enemy ‘snipers were quick to resent undue curiosity.’ German artillery continued to fire ‘on our dumps, and duck-walks, and trenches’. And, more significantly, enemy ‘lines remained as we had known them, sinister, inscrutable, pregnant with death.’ The following day harboured ‘growing tension, of fleeting rumour, of deepening conviction.’17 However on 24 February an Australian patrol confirmed that parts of the old German front-line trenches were unoccupied, as enemy troops pulled back towards the village of Bapaume.18 Now it would be up to the Australians to give chase.


Since their arrival in April 1916, Australian troops had already contributed a great deal to the British army’s efforts on the Western Front. With the Somme battles now well and truly behind them, those Australians could finally see the dreadful winter come to an end. However, any thought of further rest rapidly diminished as the Germans covered their withdrawal by occupying and fortifying a line of French villages directly in front of the Hindenburg Line. Before the British could have a crack at the Hindenburg Line itself, those outpost villages had to be captured. And Haig had no time to waste. Australian units were ordered to pursue the fleeing enemy. How they performed would determine the timetable for the next major British operation — the attack around Arras.


***


Meanwhile the Germans continued their systematic withdrawal, devastating everything that stood in their path. Bridges were demolished and roads mined. Ancient churches were destroyed to prevent the towers being used as observation platforms. Farmhouses and out-buildings were burnt or booby-trapped to prevent their use as billets. Livestock were killed. Water reservoirs and wells were poisoned — some booby-trapped — killing or maiming many unsuspecting soldiers. All this destruction was completed with the sole purpose of delaying chasing troops and providing the main body of Germans and their artillery batteries valuable time to reach their key defensive positions.


At the same time German engineers continued to labour industriously all along the Hindenburg Line to meet the High Command’s expectations. The engineers concentrated on providing maximum fortification for troop safety and comfort. Multiple lines of deep, heavily strengthened trenches, assisted by specifically selected strongpoints of concrete shelters and machine-gun emplacements, all protected by belts of barbed wire, ensured a deep, extensive and formidable rear defensive zone. The chief priority — the massacre of advancing Allied infantry — seemed a mere formality.


General Sir Hubert Gough, General Officer Commanding (GOC) Fifth Army, had ordered a systematic advance. Heading his priorities were ‘Strong patrols, backed up by the advanced guards, [which were] to be pushed forward as far as possible.’19 Whatever Gough’s other errors of judgement, he retained a strong sense of history. Clearly remembering the disaster that followed the detaching of his brigades at the Aisne in 1914, he decided that his advance guards should be ‘mixed’ and comprise infantry, cavalry, artillery and engineers. Two Australian divisions — the 5th and 2nd — were to lead the advance. The British 7th Division on the left was to coordinate the advanced guard movement as closely as possible with the Australians, while continuing to despatch patrols of its own. The British units began well — in a little over a day they had moved their line almost two miles while capturing the villages of Warlencourt, Pys, Irles, Miraumont and Serle.


The Australian units met with similar success. By the end of February they had secured the village of Gommecourt and were around one and a half miles from the outskirts of Bapaume, some eight miles behind the old German front line.20 Gough wrote, ‘The enemy’s rear guards ... now stood firm for some time.’ Confronted by ‘two powerfully-constructed and quite undamaged hostile lines of entrenchments facing us, the first known as the Grevillers line, stretching roughly from the village of Bucquoy on the north by Achiet-le-petit, Loupart Wood and the village of Thilloy; the other line, from 2000 to 3000 yards behind it, stretched across by the villages of Ablainzeville, Bihucourt, and the western outskirts of Bapaume,’ the British advance became bogged down.21


Gough became further agitated on 14 March following a British assault on Bucquoy which was easily ‘repulsed’. Harbouring little doubt that the attack ‘was not sufficiently prepared’, Gough noted that he ‘had reconnoitred the front the previous morning and had thought that the defences of this village still appeared in too good a state to warrant an assault, and I suggested to the corps that the attack should be delayed for further preparations, but the commander was confident of success.’ However, when his corps commander pressed ahead with the attack, Gough did not intervene, reasoning that he should allow his ‘subordinates to act on their own initiative’.22


The Australians had encountered problems of their own as they fought their way to within striking distance of Bapaume. They were ordered to prepare for an attack on the village and were confident of success. One young lieutenant, George McDowell — described as energetic, buoyant and ‘dedicated to the awful business of war’ — wrote that the German retirement was leading to ‘a headlong fight which is being hurried all along the line [and] when we catch up with the old dog we will trounce him soundly.’23


***


Haig had always insisted that Bapaume must be taken. His rationale may have been questionable — after all, this was a village that had obsessed him since the first day of the Somme. This was the same village, in fact, that he had expected the British cavalry to capture on that first day. Then, as now, he claimed that the village’s significance lay in the tactical position it occupied. Haig reasoned that, following its capture, Australian units could fan out in an easterly direction and move against other scattered outpost villages that stood between Bapaume and the Hindenburg Line. Gough eagerly supported Haig’s rationale. After all, an Australian success might provide some compensation for recent defeats in the Fifth Army’s British sector. Considering what had happened at Bucquoy, on this occasion Gough was guilty of ordering an attack without sufficient time for adequate preparation.


On 16 March Australian ‘artillery fire was directed against enemy’s trenches and wire [around Bapaume] ... up till 9p.m.’ At around 5.00 am the following day, infantry from the 8th Brigade (5th Australian Division) moved forward. A little over two hours later, a report from the 30th Battalion confirmed that the village was occupied and the Australians ‘had established ... [a line] on the main Beaulencourt Road through Bapaume.’24 At midday the division’s commander (Major General Talbot Hobbs) told I ANZAC headquarters, ‘Mopping up of Bapaume complete.’25


Withdrawing enemy troops had, however, left the village in ruins, in the process destroying anything useful and leaving behind numerous well-concealed booby traps and time-bombs, which caused many casualties. One British officer wrote that:


From a captured German [operation] order it appears that our patrols entered the hostile trenches only one hour after they had been vacated; pretty sharp work ... The German trenches we have taken over are deep, well constructed and surprisingly dry ... Masses of beer bottles (unfortunately empty) are strewn about, and guncotton, attached to shell cases and grenades, has been left ready to explode when picked up or accidentally kicked. We have had five casualties in this way.26 


Two days later, on 19 March, those remaining Australian soldiers demonstrated that their spirits remained high when the 5th Australian Brigade’s band marched through the ruins into the old town square, Place Faidherbe.


***


In the British sector, Gough recorded that the advance ‘was now stayed for a while, to allow the roads, railways and bridges – which had been thoroughly destroyed by the enemy – to be repaired and reconstructed to serve as our communications.’27 However, Australian advance guard units moved on. Brigadier General Harold ‘Pompey’ Elliott’s 15th Brigade (5th Australian Division) was given arguably the more difficult task, operating to the north of John Gellibrand’s 6th Brigade (2nd Australian Division). Elliott was an enigmatic, if somewhat difficult leader. On 17 March he divided his formation into two parts — one ‘to swing half right’ as far as Fremicourt while the other remained ‘in the old line as a reserve’.28 British intelligence had already ascertained ‘the strength and disposition of the rearguards before the 5th Division.’ But the same intelligence could not determine the number of troops Gellibrand’s formation faced and only ‘assumed’ that it would meet a ‘similar sized’ force. Probably as a safeguard should he encounter larger enemy units, Gellibrand was provided an additional ‘troop of light horse, a battery of field artillery, and engineer, machine-gun, and medical detachments.’29
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The ruins of Bapaume, 17 March 1917. View of a ruined street in Bapaume taken on the same day that the Australians captured the village (AWM E00348).


Now that Bapaume was in Australian hands and effectively a base for both ‘advance guard’ brigades, Gellibrand’s formation moved against outpost villages including Sapignies, Favreuil, Vaulx-Vraucourt, Vraucourt, Lagnicourt, Noreuil and Longatte. Elliott’s objectives included Fremicourt, Beugny, Lebucquiere, Velu, Beaumetz, Hermies, Doignies, Morchies, Louverval, Demicourt and Boursies. The advance through open countryside was a totally new experience for those Australians involved. There were no trenches or bomb craters scarring the landscape and without massive strands of barbed wire (except some covering a few of the outpost villages) they were guaranteed broad freedom of movement.
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Brigadier General Harold ‘Pompey’ Elliott, GOC 15th Australian Infantry Brigade (AWM H15596).


Lieutenant George McDowell wrote that his unit’s recent plentiful amount of ‘open warfare tactical exercises’ was put to good use as they chased retiring German infantry ‘over comparatively open country’.30 If German troops were cornered, however, they usually offered stout resistance and fighting in open fields or in the villages was sometimes savage and bloody. Those same Australian soldiers soon understood that the enemy was not retreating, rather biding their time as the main body of troops and their artillery pushed further back towards the Hindenburg Line.
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The advance to the Hindenburg Line, March-April 1917. After the Germans withdrew from Bapaume in mid-March, the 2nd and 5th Australian divisions formed advanced guards units to chase the fleeing Germans to the Hindenburg Line.


In Elliott’s sector Haplincourt, Beugny, Le Bucguiere, Velu, Velu Wood and Morchies were taken in rapid succession. Beaumetz, however, was a tougher nut to crack. A unit of select German troops initially offered stubborn resistance. But by 21 March Elliott’s men had forced the enemy to withdraw and he recorded that ‘at 7a.m. our Light Horse patrols supported by infantry patrols found Beaumetz unoccupied and at once consolidated in the village which was incorporated in our outpost line.’ The Germans nonetheless refused to relinquish the village. At around 4.30 am on 23 March enemy artillery pounded Australian positions in and around Beaumetz. Half an hour later some 200 infantry counter-attacked. A report noted later that, after almost 30 minutes of intense fighting, the Australian ‘garrison in Beaumetz was driven out.’31 However by 7.30 am the Australians had attacked again and retaken what was left of the village. A body count revealed around 100 dead enemy soldiers and nine wounded prisoners.


Gellibrand experienced much the same success. Yet both commanders would be ‘carpeted’ by Birdwood. Advancing well ahead of the British columns, they were ordered to slow down. Gellibrand ignored the order, instead instructing his exhausted formation to move against Noreuil. Without proper reconnaissance the night attack stood little chance of success. When Birdwood and White heard of the attack, they were reportedly livid. For his part, Elliott effectively disobeyed an order, issued by his divisional commander and sanctioned by Birdwood, not to move against Bertincourt, located in the neighbouring British sector. Elliott — yet again the charismatic but unorthodox commander — decided to deal ‘with the situation itself by attacking the village, only to be subsequently admonished by Birdwood.32 In retrospect, Elliott should have considered himself fortunate not to have forfeited his command — more so as, on 20 March, Gough had ordered ‘that the outpost villages would only be attacked when heavy guns had been brought up and after thorough preparations.’ Gough’s order effectively directed the Australian columns to press on and play a waiting game while the British formations took time to prepare and consolidate against each village they faced. But neither Australian brigade commander would countenance this. Just a few days later their troops were deemed ill suited ‘for this second phase of the advance’ and ‘the columns were dispensed with’.33


Meanwhile, on 24 March Brigadier General E.A. Wisdom was told that his 7th Brigade (2nd Australian Division), supported by part of Elliott’s brigade, must prepare for an attack on Lagnicourt which was ‘garrisoned’ by around 260 Germans. In what has been described as a ‘classic envelopment’, Wisdom’s plan involved A Company, 26th Battalion, moving against the village ‘from cross-roads ... “C” company 26 Btn will attack the village the frontage being from Junction Road ... to Eastern side of village ... Vickers Machine Guns will advance after village has been taken.’ The two companies were to link up at the rear of the village while a third swept through Lagnicourt. Another company was to ‘mop up’ any ‘isolated’ groups of enemy troops offering ‘resistance’.34
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Studio portrait of Captain Percy Herbert Cherry, VC, MC, 26th Battalion, c. 1916. Note that his VC and MC have been painted onto the photograph some time after it was taken (AWM P02939.012).


On 26 March Wisdom put his plans into action. Captain Percy Cherry’s courage, which won him a Victoria Cross, was indicative of the Australians’ fighting spirit. The citation read:


After all the officers of his company had become casualties, he carried on with care and determination in the face of fierce opposition and cleared the village of the enemy. He sent frequent reports of progress made and when held up by an enemy strongpoint, he organised machine-gun and bomb parties and captured the position. His leadership, coolness and bravery set a wonderful example to his men.


Having cleared the village, he took charge of the situation and beat off the most resolute and heavy counter-attacks made by the enemy. Wounded about 6.30a.m., he refused to leave his post and there remained, encouraging all to hold out at all costs, until, about 4.30p.m., this very gallant officer was killed by an enemy shell.


The 7th Brigade suffered 377 casualties, considered a low price to pay by British GHQ.35


As Australian and British troops moved closer to the Hindenburg Line enemy resistance strengthened. Elite German units had established themselves in villages and the surrounding countryside with expertly positioned machine-gun posts and other elaborate fortifications. The exhausted Australians suffered further casualties. Finally the 7th Brigade was relieved by Brigadier General Thomas Glasgow’s 13th (4th Australian Division) while, further south, the 1st Australian Division took over from Hobbs’ 5th Division. On 2 April Doignies fell.36


The following morning Australian guns fired a ‘thin’ barrage against enemy positions around Noreuil. German artillery responded, although few casualties were reported among the gathering troops. At 5.15 am the 50th and 51st battalions (13th Infantry Brigade) moved forward. However the Australian artillery had failed to silence all the machine-gun posts and the infantry was forced to advance through a wall of fire. They countered with rifle grenades and bombs, killing most of the German machine-gun crews who fought gamely to the end. In some places, however, particularly on the right of the village, uncut wire hindered the Australians’ progress.


As the infantry moved through the village, hidden machine-gun nests on the right flank accounted for more Australian casualties. However, as the battalion report noted, ‘the line pushed forward and secured themselves within 100 yards of their objective, having advanced over 1,700 yards.’ By late afternoon Australian officers reported the capture and consolidation of Noreuil, albeit not without heavy casualties, particularly among the officers. Ten were listed as dead or wounded, as were 350 men. The report also noted the capture of ‘between 70-80 prisoners including 8 officers’ as well as ‘two trench mortars and two machine guns’.37


Only Demicourt, Boursies and Hermies remained. The Australian artillery had already commenced laying down softening-up barrages against those villages, preventing enemy troops from adding to their forward defensive positions, several patrols having established that machine-gun nests were sited as far forward as Havrincourt Wood. Senior Australian officers and their staff decided that the main ‘attack will be launched without artillery support. Normal artillery activity against enemy villages will be carried on until 0400. At Zero Hour batteries will open on Demicourt ... and eastern approaches to Hermies.’ If, however, during the attack, rifle or machine-gun fire erupted from the direction of Demicourt (located on a ridge between the other two villages), ‘heavy artillery will shell that village and the exits towards Boursies and Hermies.’ Cautious Australian officers who had learnt from their men’s insistence on looting booby-trapped souvenirs or being caught by well-placed time-bombs, arranged ‘for Engineers to examine the villages for mines and traps immediately after they are occupied’.38
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The ruins of Hermies, 8—9 April 1917. Many of the buildings have been reduced to rubble while parts of the walls of others are still in place. Hermies was one of the last of the several outpost villages captured in April 1917 (AWM C00440).


Zero Hour was set for dawn on 9 April. The 1st Australian Infantry Brigade was to assault Hermies and Demicourt while the 3rd conducted a diversionary attack on Boursies. Divisional officers knew that the Germans ‘would be expecting some form of attack on these villages and it was hoped that we might be able to divert his attention almost entirely to Boursies.’ As late as the night before the attack, ‘it was determined to push out on the ridge north of Boursies to lead the enemy to the obvious conclusion that early operations against Boursies would be undertaken.’ The same planners subsequently decided that Hermies and Boursies — the two outer villages — were to be attacked ‘simultaneously and by surprise’ trusting that Demicourt, approximately two miles to the right of Hermies, would then be isolated and ‘soon become untenable to the enemy’.


At 4.15 am the 2nd and 3rd battalions (1st Brigade) moved against Hermies. As the infantry closed in on the enemy front line, opposition stiffened. The two forward companies fixed bayonets and charged the first German trench. Ferocious hand-to-hand fighting followed. A large number of German troops were killed while others chose to surrender. The Australians pushed on. In another almost perfect example of ‘envelopment’, one company attacked from the left and swung around, catching enemy troops between crossfire from the company on the other flank. By 6.00 am Hermies was in Australian hands. Exuberant troops counted 264 Germans killed. Another 173 were taken prisoner.
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Looking towards the French village of Hermies and old German wire entanglements. Hermies was captured on the morning of 9 April by the 2nd and 3rd battalions in a surprise attack from the flanks. Some of the German defences can be seen in the foreground (AWM E01382).


Demicourt proved far from ‘untenable to the enemy’, and was attacked at 7.30 am. Held up by accurate machine-gun fire coming from the village, those Australian officers leading the advance were soon forced to request artillery support. When it arrived, the Germans lost no time responding with artillery fire of their own, accurately directed onto Australian troops attempting to outflank enemy positions close to the village. As the surviving Australians closed on the German front line, more vicious hand-to-hand fighting ensued. Only at 11.00 am could Australian officers report that Demicourt was secure and that they had established a line east of the village.


Meanwhile, at Boursies, intelligence reports should have alerted senior officers and those planning the attack to the danger of enfilading fire from well-positioned German machine-guns on the high ground to the north and north-east of the village. Somehow the same reports also seriously underestimated the strength of German units in and around Boursies. The 12th Battalion (3rd Brigade) was subsequently presented with the unenviable task of silencing these machine-guns before moving against the village. Early in the evening of 8 April Australian infantry began moving cautiously towards their starting line at a sunken road.


Not all went according to plan. A later report described how German attacks on the same night ‘seriously interfered with the preparations for the operation ... timed for 4.15a.m., the 9th.’ Still the attack went ahead. Leaving the cover of the sunken road near Louverval, Captain J.E. Newland’s A Company, supported by a platoon from B Company under the command of Lieutenant R.E. Newitt, advanced the 900 or so yards across no man’s land against Boursies. The troops had covered a little over 500 yards and were about to attack a ruined mill in front of the village when they were spotted by the enemy, who opened up heavy machine-gun and rifle fire. Newitt’s men, all of whom had been skilfully positioned on the right flank of the advance, lent support, allowing the second wave of Newland’s platoon to overpower what was left of the enemy’s forward positions.39
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A view of front-line trenches following the German withdrawal, March 1917. Note the soldier lying dead and the roll of barbed wire between his legs (AWM E04714).


Major General Harold Walker (GOC 1st Australian Division) later commended both Newland’s and Newitt’s grasp of the situation. ‘Two platoons skilfully led’, Walker noted, ‘attacked the enemy trenches ... and captured them taking two enemy machine-guns with little loss themselves. The captured machine-guns were at once turned on the retiring enemy.’ By 2.00 pm what was left of the German garrison was ‘driven out’, fleeing back towards their ‘main line’.40 In a daringly executed — and somewhat lucky — attack, the last of the network of defended outpost villages in the Australian sector had been taken.


Adequate planning had contributed to the success at Boursies, as had the resolve of junior officers (and their men) and, rather surprisingly, the poor deployment of machine-guns by German officers. Planning for Hermies was far better. Charles Bean wrote that, of all the ‘important operations, the attack upon Hermies was the first, within the experience of Australian infantry, to develop from start to finish almost precisely in accordance with plans.’41


Major General Walker received a laudatory message from Gough: ‘Best congratulations on operations for the capture of Boursies, Hermies, Demicourt. They were skilfully planned and gallantly carried out ... Throughout the advance since the end of February the enterprise, tactical skill and gallantry of the whole ANZAC Corps has been remarkable and is deserving of the highest commendation.’42 The cost of taking the three villages was 649 Australian soldiers.43 Little did the survivors realise that those attributes Gough had praised so lavishly would very shortly be called on again, at another small French village not too far from where they had just fought.


***


The capture of the last of the outpost villages effectively brought the war of movement to a close. Australian officers and men had learnt that there were different ways to fight a war than the nerve-racking anticipation of waiting in a trench to attack — or be attacked — across no man’s land. Being mobile and not confined to an underground catacomb was a tonic for Australian troops. Yet those units engaged in the chase still suffered large numbers of casualties.


On the same day that the Australians were celebrating their victories, a litde further to the north the British Third Army commenced the much-anticipated spring campaign, its objective a breakthrough around Arras. The stage had been set for an attack on Bullecourt by the 4th Australian Division which, following the capture of Noreuil on 2 April, had established its divisional front along a line running north of Lagnicourt and Noreuil.






CHAPTER 2


‘The value of preparation.’ 


THE ARRAS OFFENSIVE


The German army’s strategy for 1917 had been clearly defined. Senior Allied officers and politicians understood that, by withdrawing to the Hindenburg Line, the enemy intended to fight a defensive war on the Western Front while the bulk of its forces would be used to pursue a more successful outcome in the east. Haig had other ideas. He wanted nothing less than to continue his strategy of wearing down the enemy in France and Flanders, aware that allowing the Germans to gain the impetus in the west risked losing the war. However politics intervened. The new British Prime Minister, David Lloyd George (who came to power in December 1916), was never a great admirer of his commander-in-chief’s strategy, particularly in the wake of the appalling casualties on the Somme. Lloyd George decided he needed a ‘knockout blow’, although not necessarily in the west. Almost immediately on taking office he created a smaller executive War Cabinet, designed to provide greater input into prosecuting strategy and military operations.


The French government had similar ideas concerning its army commander’s strategy. In December 1916 the government had replaced its commander-in-chief, the bumbling Marshal Joseph Joffre, with the more audacious General Robert Nivelle. At the Calais Conference from 26 to 27 February 1917, the British Prime Minister went so far as to suggest to his French counterpart that the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) and, by necessity, the Australian Imperial Force (AIF), be placed under French military command, with Nivelle as supreme commander. Haig was livid, writing later that ‘it would be madness to place the British under the French, and ... I [do] not believe our troops would fight under French leadership.’ The British commander-in-chief was even prepared to ‘be tried by Court Martial [rather] than betray the Army by agreeing to its being placed under the French.’1 A crisis threatened, particularly after news reached the politicians that Haig had informed King George V of his threat to resign. With little option, the notion that the BEF be subordinated indefinitely to French leadership was shelved. However Nivelle and Lloyd George agreed to implement earlier plans (first discussed in December 1916) for the Allies’ first great spring offensive of 1917 which would see British GHQ answerable to French command. Haig was reluctantly forced to accede.


***


Nivelle’s initial plan involved a breakthrough by the French army along a ridge between the Aisne and Ailette rivers around the Chemin des Dames in Champagne. He was convinced that this offensive could win the war for France as early as mid to late 1917. During the early planning stages this part of the enemy front was weakly defended, although the Germans held the high ground and enjoyed uninterrupted observation of French troop and artillery movement. With the German withdrawal to the Hindenburg Line, Nivelle’s plans should have been put on hold.


British and French politicians, still alarmed at the casualty bill of 1916, sought to shift the war from a series of relentless battles of attrition. While the German withdrawal surprised Nivelle — as it did other senior British and French officers and politicians — he continued to argue that his strategy of pursuing a rapid and convincing breakthrough along a broad front with overwhelming artillery support would provide the means to bring the war to an end. General Franchet d’Esperay, commander of the French Northern Group of Armies, was less certain. He called on Nivelle to launch an immediate attack to catch the unsuspecting withdrawing German divisions off guard. Nivelle rejected this out of hand as too ‘audacious’ a request. The headstrong Nivelle was not prepared to diverge from his plan to accommodate d’Esperay, or anyone else for that matter, refusing ‘even to acknowledge the shift in German deployments’. Nivelle further pressed for two diversionary attacks — one by the British in the north between Arras and the River Scarpe and the other by d’Esperay’s French Northern Group of Armies near the River Oise — to draw German troops away from Chemin des Dames and conceal French preparations for the main offensive. Neville’s stubbornness was to ‘cost him and the French dear in the months to come’.2


The French commander-in-chief was a strong believer in set-piece offensives — infantry attacking limited objectives with the support of massed artillery. He assumed that what had worked well for him at Verdun, albeit in dissimilar conditions on a limited front, would work in much the same way along a far larger front. He refused, however, to sanction the use of tanks, and indeed was critical of a British suggestion that the ‘best way of disturbing the enemy would be to carry out an attack in which tanks would play a part.’3


Nivelle remained undaunted by the task facing him and his troops, describing his offensive as inflicting a blow with a ‘mass of manoeuvre’. With 27 divisions ready to take advantage of a break in the enemy line, he confidently predicted that his men would take the city of ‘Laon in 24 hours and then break out.’ While he subsequently accepted that this main breakout would be more likely within 48 hours, he asserted confidently that ‘the ground [would then] be open to go where one wants, to the Belgian coast or to the capital, on the Meuse or on the Rhine.’4 Nivelle’s self-belief and ‘certainty’ concerning the Champagne offensive was repeated by his close confidante General Charles Mangin (who had served alongside him during the last part of Verdun): ‘We know the method and we have the Chief [Nivelle]. Success is certain.’5 Haig remained unconvinced, continuing to argue for an attack in his favoured area around the Ypres salient. Again, he was overruled.


Planning went ahead for the main offensive at Chemin des Dames and diversionary attacks around Arras. On 18 March it appeared that Nivelle’s ambitions would be thwarted when a socialist member of the French Chamber of Deputies, Paul Painleve, was named new Minister of War with far-reaching powers. Painleve was less than impressed by Nivelle’s charisma or, for that matter, by his strategy. Called to Painleve’s parliamentary office, Nivelle changed the rationale for the attack, which initially was to be part of a three-pronged offensive with the Russians advancing in the east and the Italians in the south. But neither the Russian nor Italian army was in any position to attack, a situation Brigadier General John Charteris, GHQ’s intelligence chief, had already communicated to Haig and presumably Nivelle.6 Nivelle now advanced an alternative. The French offensive, he reasoned, would assist the Allies’ precarious position on the Russian and Italian fronts. Much-needed German divisions would be moved from those fronts to bolster enemy troops at Chemin des Dames who, he persisted, would be soundly mauled by his French troops.


Following Haig’s example of the previous month, Nivelle threatened to resign if he failed to gain approval for his plan. He told Painleve that the ‘only thing I fear is that the enemy will evacuate. The more Germans there are, the greater the victory will be.’ Painleve eventually acceded, but with the proviso that Nivelle ‘agree to halt the offensive if no breakthrough occurred at the Chemin des Dames within 48 hours.’ Giving his solemn agreement, Nivelle added, ‘I do not intend to restart the Battle of the Somme.’7


***


At the Calais Conference Haig had been forced to accept Nivelle’s strategy. He committed the British First, Third (whose troops would be the principal striking force) and Fifth armies to support the French offensive by launching an attack at and around Arras. The British offensive, it was reliably believed, would pull German reserves away from Chemin des Dames. On 5 February Haig issued a secret memorandum to his army commanders in which he noted that he expected them ‘to make ... preparations on the probability that the Third Army operations will commence shortly after the 15th March.’8 The German withdrawal to the Hindenburg Line should have put paid to any further expectations concerning those dates. But, if Haig thought that Nivelle would cancel, or at least postpone the French attack, he was to be sadly mistaken. The Frenchman insisted that both advances proceed.


Nivelle still had high hopes of a rapid Allied victory and of concluding the war by year’s end. On 26 March Haig’s Chief of Staff, Lieutenant General Sir Lancelot Kiggell, told the British army commanders that ‘Nivelle’s opinion was that the enemy would not leave the Hindenburg Line until he was attacked and driven off’. But, of more significance were Haig’s own plans. From the beginning, Arras was conceived as essentially a ‘bite-and-hold’ operation. ‘The Third Army will attack’, Haig emphasised, ‘with the object of breaking through east of Arras and advancing in the direction of Cambrai.’ He went on to point out ‘the importance of the Divisions on the right [south] of the Third Army attack getting within assaulting distance of the Hindenburg Line at the earliest possible date.’9 Two divisions from General Sir Hubert Gough’s Fifth Army would provide that assistance, attacking along a front in a suitable location around Bullecourt between Croisilles and Queant.


Haig also told General Sir Henry Horne (GOC First Army) that his main objective was the capture of Vimy Ridge and that he should then move ‘in the direction of Douai with the object of covering the left of the Third Army.’ Horne had a reputation as a careful and professional officer who understood the plight of the ‘ordinary soldier’ and recognised the human cost of war. Yet he was also reputedly a less than outstanding leader. His Chief of Staff (Major General Sir Hastings Anderson) described him ‘as stern, reticent and impatient of slackness, indiscipline and eyewash ... [He] was calm and confident in the exercise of his duties ... his decisions were generally sound, crisp and reasoned and ... he was usually happy to leave the detailed execution of orders to his staff.’10


When the army commanders were provided an opportunity to present their case, Horne argued that he ‘had not yet considered the problem of combining an operation north-eastward with the advance on Douai after he had captured the Vimy Ridge.’ However, when informed by Haig that General Sir Edmund Allenby [Third] army should have ‘sufficient ground north of the Scarpe to enable it to turn the villages in the valley from the north’, Horne modified his stance, asserting that he was ‘satisfied... [and] was quite clear as to the dividing line between himself and the Third Army.’ Allenby then outlined the status of his own planning. Noting the existence of caves located to the east of Arras, he told Haig that they would be used ‘for the assembly of troops’ prior to the attack. There was consensus that the offensive should commence ‘very early in the morning ... [because] the enemy had such good observation.’ For his part, Gough reported that his Fifth Army would be ready to assist Allenby by attacking enemy positions along the Hindenburg Line near Bullecourt on 8 April.11


***


At the same time, more detailed preparations for the Arras offensive were continuing. The Somme experience had taught British GHQ a number of logistics lessons concerning the rapid movement of large numbers of men and quantities of equipment to the front. At first, Nivelle accepted most of Haig’s ideas; however he had some misgivings over attacking the high ground around Vimy Ridge. Haig was not to be dissuaded. He warned his French ally that, ‘for tactical reasons’, with his army ‘left on the Vimy Ridge ... [the British] had a secure flank and my attack would bring me in rear of the Hindenburg Line.’ Haig later explained that he was trying his ‘utmost to comply with the strategical requirements of Nivelle’s plan, but in the matter of tactics I alone could decide. That is to say, Nivelle having stated that his plan required the British to break the enemy’s front north of the Somme and march on Cambrai, I decided where and how I would dispose of my troops for that purpose.’12


Haig was well aware that the capture of Vimy would come at a heavy cost. Already, given its strategic value, the ridge had been the subject of three separate battles during 1915 and 1916. In a poorly planned (and even more poorly executed) attempt in 1915, the French had suffered around 150,000 casualties. Early the following year the British took over the Arras sector and successfully assaulted the ridge. A few months later, in May, German infantry attacked and recaptured Vimy Ridge.


[image: image]


Portrait of Field Marshal Sir Julian Byng, GCB, KCB, KCMG, MVO, CB, signed ‘Byng of Vimy’. Byng received plaudits for his expertise in commanding the Canadian Corps at Vimy Ridge and was arguably the finest British and Commonwealth general of World War I (AWM P03717.001).


Horne chose the elite Canadian Corps — comprising the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th Canadian divisions and the 24th British Division — to lead the attack on Vimy. The corps commander, Lieutenant General Sir Julian Byng (undoubtedly one of the better performing senior British officers of the war) was already acknowledged as a no-nonsense, ‘inspiring, tough competent and sympathetic’ leader.13 Fortunately, Horne gave Byng more latitude than usual when planning the operation, as Byng was a shrewd tactician who left little to chance and cared about the lives of his men. Byng, too, was buoyant given Horne’s encouragement, writing later that his army commander was ‘more than helpful and backed me up in everything’.14


[image: image]


A section of Vimy Ridge taken from the basket of a kite balloon stationed over the battlefield, April 1917 (AWM H06972).


The Canadian Corps had also learnt valuable lessons from the Somme. On 15 March Byng began preparing plans for the attack on Vimy. Horne had told him that there were to be two separate attacks — the ‘Southern Operation’ against ‘the main crest with the exception of “The Pimple’”, a 200-yard-high hill at its northern end. Horne anticipated that ‘The Pimple’, together with the Boisen-Hache across the Souchez, would be taken later in the Northern Operation by the British I Corps. Byng was also warned that he ‘would need all his Canadian divisions in the initial assault’. The careful Hoene promised that the 5th British Division would act as a reserve, and that there would be ‘massive artillery support’. Possibly more meaningfully, Byng was able to secure a large number of machine-guns — 80 for each brigade, including one Lewis light machine-gun for every platoon.15


Still not satisfied, Byng intensified his men’s training. More extensive preparations included the construction of several underground compartments and tunnels designed to reduce the troops’ exposure to enemy artillery and machine-gun fire. Byng also made sure that his sector was provided with adequate electricity, reinforced communication bunkers, command headquarters and dressing stations as well as water pipelines and a light railway and tram system. Attacks were rehearsed and officers and men fully briefed. Byng utilised what he had learnt from other failed attacks, taking particular care to ensure his troops would not advance in waves along an extended straight line. Instead, training at platoon level focused on rapid movement in open formation and, if need be, in a zigzag pattern. Platoon commanders were given more freedom. Their orders were uncomplicated. Not required to adhere to rigid battalion orders, they were able to move their men to where they were needed — and the troops were encouraged not to needlessly expose themselves but rather to look for suitable cover as they crossed no man’s land.16


***


The main attack, along a front measuring almost 20,000 yards, was finally scheduled for 5.30 am on 8 April. Nivelle’s preferred date had been 1 April, and the revised date now meant that the French would have only one week, not the desired two, before they launched their offensive. Allenby had hoped for surprise, although this was virtually impossible to achieve given the enemy’s ability to observe Allied troop movements and the consequent intelligence reports which would describe the huge build-up of men and equipment along the entire front. Planning became more intense at Allenby’s Third Army headquarters as his men would bear the main brunt of the attack at Arras. The first day’s objective was defined as the German trench system fronting the villages of Guemappe and Monchy-le-Preux. The villages were the next objective. Capturing Monchy would be a daunting task. Located on the highest hill, it commanded views of the open fields below — which the British infantry would need to cross. Allenby and his staff were aware of the enormous toll of casualties that the enemy machine-guns and artillery would potentially inflict.


Like Byng, Allenby and his co-planners had learnt a great deal from the flawed British tactics of the previous year. He too ordered his engineers to dig over 12 miles of underground tunnels to complement the caves and which would allow some 24,000 troops to move safely to an attacking position not far from the enemy trenches. Explosives had been laid in disused mines just yards from the German line, ready to be detonated minutes before the infantry attack. Those same infantry had conducted extensive rehearsals and now knew precisely what was required of them.


The assaulting troops were to move in ‘open formation’ enabling units to ‘leapfrog’ one another so that the men had time to ‘consolidate and regroup’. The engineers had also constructed light railways, enabling ammunition and other necessary supplies to be rushed to the front. However, it has been suggested that there were major flaws in Allenby’s preparations, if for no other reason than he allowed technicians who knew their craft — such as tank and Royal Flying Corps (RFC) senior officers — little input into planning. It has even been suggested that Arras ‘like the large battles of 1916, was basically another infantry affair in which the big guns, aeroplanes and tanks were assigned supporting parts.’17


Supporting parts they may have had, yet all subsidiary arms contributed in one way or another — at least initially. Certainly the artillery planning was time-consuming and comprehensive, albeit with no thanks to Allenby who argued for a brief barrage lasting just 48 hours. Haig, on the other hand, insisted on a lengthier bombardment lasting five days. Despite hostile skies around Arras and the bad weather, which made flying all the more difficult, RFC pilots and observers made a significant contribution, considerably improving the barrage’s accuracy. Reports from observers in their flimsy biplanes kept gunnery officers updated with reliable information on the location of mobile German artillery and damage to major gun emplacements. And the artillery observers’ role was also improved by recent innovations such as sound ranging and flash spotting. Artillery techniques — which had also proved indecisive on the Somme — had improved markedly. By April 1917 the creeping barrage, which had become more sophisticated since the Somme due to better synchronisation and the enhanced calibration of each gun, was now an essential part of the BEF’s doctrine of attack.18


Compared to the Somme, where one British heavy gun had to fire on targets every 55 yards of the German front, at Arras one gun covered almost every 20 yards. Better quality ammunition (with fewer ‘duds’) was also on hand. Barbed wire and other obstacles could now be cut by shells making use of the ‘106’ instantaneous fuse.19 Eighteen infantry divisions were to be supported by 2818 artillery pieces (almost three times more than the number used on the first day of the Somme) and 2340 Livens Projectors (usually camouflaged tubes arranged for simultaneous electrical firing of Thermite or, in some instances, gas) and, more significantly, a number of tanks.
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